## **RECEIVED**

01-06-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

## STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### COURT OF APPEALS

#### **DISTRICT III**

Case No. 2016AP1856-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JANAYA L. MOSS,

Defendant-Appellant.

On a Notice of Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Circuit Court for Washburn County, the Honorable Eugene D. Harrington, Presiding

#### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

KARA L. MELE Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1081358

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-2124 melek@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

### **

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

Deputy Price received a call about an alleged argument between two women at a bar. He got to the bar and noticed a woman acting loud and belligerent. He also saw Ms. Moss, who was seated on a nearby bar stool and appeared intoxicated. Deputy Price arrested the loud and belligerent woman for disorderly conduct. He placed her in handcuffs and sat her in a chair that was a couple feet from a table with a wallet on it.

The deputy asked the woman her name, and she said "Jasmine." He tried to ask Jasmine if she owned the wallet on the table but she was not paying attention. Deputy Price then seized the wallet, opened it, and found cocaine. He got Jasmine's attention and asked her if the wallet was hers. Jasmine said it belonged to Ms. Moss.

1. Under these circumstances, was the deputy's warrantless search of the wallet permissible?

The circuit court answered: Yes.

2. If the deputy's warrantless search of the wallet was not permissible, does the inevitable discovery doctrine render the fruits of the constitutionally unreasonable search admissible?

The circuit court did not address this issue.

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not requested but is welcomed if the court would find it helpful in resolving this case. Publication may be warranted pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(a)1 or 2.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On November 21, 2015, at approximately 2:58 a.m., Deputy Price got a call about an alleged argument between two women at a bar in Trego, Wisconsin. (23:4). Specifically, dispatch reported that two women were arguing and it was appearing to become physical. (23:4). When Deputy Price arrived at the bar he saw a woman who was "very loud and belligerent." (23:5). He also saw Ms. Moss, who was seated on a nearby barstool and appeared intoxicated. (23:5-6).

Deputy Price talked to the bartender. (23:5). She said the two women had been arguing. (23:5). The loud and belligerent woman then started yelling at Deputy Price and other people at the bar. (23:5). Deputy Price arrested her for disorderly conduct. (23:6).

The deputy placed the woman in handcuffs and sat her in a nearby chair. (23:6, 9). The chair was a couple feet from a table with a wallet on it. (23:6, 9). The deputy asked the woman her name and she said "Jasmine." (23:6). He asked her if she had identification and she was not "very cooperative." (23:9). He tried to ask Jasmine if she owned the wallet on the table but she was not paying attention. (23:9). At the time, Ms. Moss was 10 to 15 feet from the table. (23:6).

The deputy did not ask anyone else who owned the wallet. (23:9). Instead, he seized the wallet, opened it, and searched its contents. (23:6). A bag of cocaine fell out of the wallet. (23:6-7).

At that point, Deputy Price again asked Jasmine if the wallet was hers. (23:7). Jasmine said it was Ms. Moss's wallet. (23:7). The deputy continued to look through the wallet and found marijuana. (23:7). He also found Ms. Moss's identification card. (23:7).

The state charged Ms. Moss with possession of cocaine and possession of THC, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 961.41(3g)(c) & (e), respectively. (1:2). Ms. Moss moved to suppress the evidence obtained as a result of the warrantless search. (5, 6).

The circuit court held an evidentiary hearing on January 25, 2016. (23). At the close of Deputy Price's testimony, the state argued that Ms. Moss did not have standing to challenge the warrantless search of her own wallet. (23:10). The court determined that Ms. Moss had standing. (23:14). As to whether suppression was warranted, the court requested briefing and set the matter over for an oral decision. (23:14).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In its brief, the state renewed its argument that Ms. Moss did not have standing to challenge the deputy's warrantless search of her wallet. (10). It also argued that the search was permissible as an "identification search." (10). In addition, the state contended that if the deputy's warrantless search of Ms. Moss's wallet was constitutionally unreasonable, suppression still was unwarranted due to the inevitable discovery doctrine. (10).

On February 22, 2016, the circuit court denied Ms. Moss's suppression motion. (26:3; App. 102). Specifically, the court ruled:

[T]he officers were dispatched to a business establishment in Washburn County for a verbal argument and physical confrontation. . . . Two females were disagreeing about various things during the course of the investigation. One of the ladies was arrested. Shortly thereafter, the second one, that being Ms. Moss, the defendant, was arrested during the course of the investigation and the arrest.

The officers had a need to look at the wallet that was there. It [was] identified to be Ms. Moss's wallet, and [it contained proof of] her identity, as well as a white substance [that] tested positive for cocaine. The court is satisfied there was reasonable suspicion for the arrest and probable cause for the arrest and the search was [incident] to the arrest.

(26:3; App. 102).

After the denial of the suppression motion, Ms. Moss pled no contest to the possession of cocaine charge. (26:5). The possession of THC charge was dismissed and read in. (26:5). The court withheld sentence and imposed a \$500 fine. (26:6; App. 101).

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. No Exception to the Warrant Requirement Permitted the Warrantless Search of Ms. Moss's Wallet. Therefore, the Deputy's Search Was Constitutionally Unreasonable.
  - A. General legal principles and standard of review.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution both guarantee freedom from unreasonable searches and seizures. *State v. Parisi*, 2016 WI 10, ¶28, 367 Wis. 2d 1, 875 N.W.2d 619. Warrantless searches are per se unreasonable unless they fit within an exception to the warrant requirement. *Id.* Once the defendant offers some evidence to support a constitutional violation, it is the state's burden to show by a preponderance of the evidence that the facts of a particular case fall within an exception to the warrant requirement. *State v. Noble*, 2002 WI 64, ¶19, 253 Wis. 2d 206, 646 N.W.2d 38; 6 Wayne R. LaFave, *Search and Seizure* § 11.2(b) at 54 (5th ed. 2012).

Whether a defendant's Fourth Amendment rights have been violated is a question of constitutional fact. *Parisi*, 367 Wis. 2d 1, ¶26. An appellate court upholds the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous. *Id*. However, it independently reviews whether the facts meet the constitutional standard of reasonableness. *Id*.

B. Ms. Moss has standing to challenge the warrantless search of her wallet.

"To have a claim under the Fourth Amendment, the person challenging the reasonableness of a search or seizure must have standing." *State v. Fox*, 2008 WI App 136, ¶10,

314 Wis. 2d 84, 758 N.W.2d 790. In order to have standing to contest a warrantless search, one must show that he or she has a legitimate expectation of privacy in the item searched. *Id*. "Whether a person has a reasonable expectation of privacy depends on (1) whether the individual has exhibited an actual, subjective expectation of privacy in the area inspected and in the item seized; and (2) whether society is willing to recognize such an expectation of privacy as reasonable." *State v. Orta*, 2003 WI App 93, ¶11, 264 Wis. 2d 765, 663 N.W.2d 358. It is the defendant's burden to show a reasonable expectation of privacy by a preponderance of the evidence. *Id*.

i. Ms. Moss exhibited a subjective expectation of privacy in her wallet.

A preponderance of the evidence establishes that Ms. Moss exhibited a subjective expectation of privacy in her wallet on the night in question.

First, Ms. Moss took steps to demonstrate her ownership of the wallet. The evidence shows that Ms. Moss kept her identification card in her wallet.<sup>2</sup> Also, Ms. Moss had apparently made clear to others that the wallet was hers, as her friend Jasmine told the deputy that it was Ms. Moss's property. Second, the evidence indicates that Ms. Moss did not abandon her wallet. She placed it on a table at which her friends had gathered that evening. Her friend Jasmine was within a couple feet of the table when the deputy began his investigation, and Ms. Moss was within 10 to 15 feet of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A court "may look to facts discovered after the intrusion to determine if a defendant has a reasonable expectation of privacy to confer standing to challenge a search." *State v. Orta*, 2003 WI App 93, ¶7, 264 Wis. 2d 765, 663 N.W.2d 358.

table during the relevant time period. Third, the evidence shows that Ms. Moss took action to prevent the public from viewing the contents of her wallet (i.e., by keeping the wallet closed). The deputy testified that he needed to open the wallet in order to perform the warrantless search.

This evidence "stack[s] up to proof by preponderance of the evidence that [Ms. Moss] had a subjective expectation of privacy." Orta, 264 Wis. 2d 765, ¶12 (quoted source omitted). While ownership alone does not establish a reasonable expectation of privacy, it is "clearly a factor to be considered in determining whether an individual's Fourth Amendment rights have been violated." *United States v. Salvucci*, 448 U.S. 83, 91 (1980). Here, it is clear that Ms. Moss owned the property in question. But more importantly, she took steps to maintain the privacy of the property. Specifically, she: (1) placed her wallet on a table that was a couple feet from her friend; (2) was standing no more than 10 to 15 feet away from her wallet; and (3) shielded the contents of her wallet from public view by keeping it closed.

ii. Ms. Moss had an objectively reasonable expectation of privacy in her wallet.

Society is willing to recognize that Ms. Moss had a reasonable expectation of privacy in her wallet under the facts of this case. This situation presents an everyday occurrence: friends meet at a bar, gather at a table, and leave their personal effects at the table while they enjoy their evening. To say that a person no longer has a privacy interest in his or

her wallet when he or she drifts 10 to 15 feet from the table to get a drink (or play darts or talk to a friend) is patently unreasonable.<sup>3</sup>

Wisconsin courts have recognized the following factors as relevant when determining whether a person has an objectively reasonable expectation of privacy in a place or item:

(1) whether the accused had a property interest in the premises; (2) whether the accused is legitimately (lawfully) on the premises; (3) whether the accused had complete dominion and control and the right to exclude others; (4) whether the accused took precautions customarily taken by those seeking privacy; (5) whether the property was put to some private use; (6) whether the claim of privacy is consistent with historical notions of privacy.

State v. Bruski, 2007 WI 25, ¶24, 299 Wis. 2d 177, 727 N.W. 2d 503. These factors support the conclusion that Ms. Moss had a reasonable expectation of privacy in her wallet.

First, it is clear that Ms. Moss had a property interest in the wallet. She owned it. Second, Ms. Moss was lawfully on the premises of the bar that evening. Third, Ms. Moss certainly had the right to exclude others from use of her wallet. She never had the opportunity to assert dominion and control over the wallet because the deputy never asked her if she owned it. *Compare with State v. Whitrock*, 161 Wis. 2d 960, 989-90, 468 N.W.2d 696 (1991).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> A patron who walks into a bar is "clothed with constitutional protection against an unreasonable search and seizure." *Ybarra v. Illinois*, 444 U.S. 85, 91 (1979).

Fourth, Ms. Moss took precautions customarily taken by those seeking privacy. She kept her wallet on a table near her friend and remained within 10 to 15 feet of that table. Her friend informed police that the wallet was Ms. Moss's, so Ms. Moss had apparently made clear to others that the wallet was hers. *Compare with Whitrock*, 161 Wis. 2d at 990. Moreover, the wallet was closed, so the public could not view its contents.

Fifth, Ms. Moss used the wallet for storing personal effects like her identification card. Finally, as to the sixth factor, society has historically recognized that a person has a privacy interest in "his or her private, closed containers." *See United States v. Fultz*, 146 F.3d 1102, 1105 (9th Cir. 1998). In fact, "certain types of containers—suitcases, valises, purses, and footlockers, for instance—[] command high expectations of privacy. . . ." *Id.* A wallet, like a purse, contains much of a person's most valuable possessions—his or her money and all the information needed to access it. Other than a cell phone, a person typically does not carry around anything more private.

As applied to this case, the above factors demonstrate that Ms. Moss had an objectively reasonable expectation of privacy in her wallet on the night in question. She therefore has standing to assert a claim under the Fourth Amendment.

C. The deputy's warrantless search of Ms. Moss's wallet was unreasonable.

Having established that Ms. Moss has standing to challenge the warrantless search of her wallet, the question remains whether the deputy's action was reasonable under the Fourth Amendment. To be constitutionally reasonable, the facts of this case must fall within an exception to the warrant requirement. *State v. Tullberg*, 2014 WI 134, ¶30,

359 Wis. 2d 421, 857 N.W.2d 120. No exception to the warrant requirement permitted the deputy's warrantless search.

#### i. Identification search.

Wisconsin is one of few states to recognize a so-called "identification search" exception to the warrant requirement. See 4 Wayne R. LaFave, Search and Seizure § 9.6(g) at 943 (5th ed. 2012). The seminal case is State v. Flynn, 92 Wis. 2d 427, 285 N.W.2d 710 (1979). In Flynn, an officer stopped the defendant because he was walking with a man who fit the description of a burglary suspect. State v. Flynn, 92 Wis. 2d 427, 431, 285 N.W.2d 710 (1979). The officer asked the defendant for identification, but the defendant refused to provide it. Id. The officer explained the reason for the request and the defendant again refused. Id. However, the defendant acknowledged that he was carrying identification in his wallet. Id. The officer then frisked the defendant and seized the wallet. Id. at 431-32.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court held that the officer, who conducted a valid investigatory stop, was permitted to conduct a limited search for identification upon the suspect's refusal to provide such information. *Id.* at 446-48. The court reached this result by conducting a balancing test that weighed society's need for the particular search against the defendant's privacy interest. *Id.* at 446. It reasoned that the need for identification was high because of the public interest in quickly apprehending an armed burglar. *Id.* As for the defendant's privacy interest, the court determined that the intrusion was limited, as the officer simply removed the wallet from the defendant's person after the defendant admitted that it contained identification. *Id.* at 447-48.

The *Flynn* court stressed that its holding was a narrow one, limited to factual situations such as the one at issue in that case. *Id.* at 448-49. Accordingly, courts permitting a warrantless search for identification must do so under circumstances similar to those of *Flynn*.

State v. Black, 2000 WI App 175, 238 Wis. 2d 203, 617 N.W.2d 210, is instructive. In *Black*, the police were conducting a drug investigation when they saw the defendant approach a vehicle and exchange something with the driver. State v. Black, 2000 WI App 175, ¶2, 238 Wis. 2d 203, 617 N.W.2d 210. An officer eventually approached the defendant and asked him for identification. Id., ¶4. The defendant provided a name and date of birth. Id. Dispatch informed the officer that the identity provided was not on file. Id. The defendant told the officer he did not have any identification on his person. *Id.* However, the officer noticed that the defendant's front pockets were "bulging." *Id.*, ¶5. The officer then tapped the outside of the defendant's pockets to see if there was a wallet in there. Id. The officer felt what appeared to be film canisters, which later turned up drugs. *Id.*, ¶¶6-7.

The court of appeals considered the reasonableness of the officer's search a "close call." *Id.*, ¶19. The court recognized that the public interest in performing the search was not as compelling as it was in *Flynn*. *Id.*, ¶¶17-19. However, it reasoned that the intrusion into the defendant's privacy was more limited than in *Flynn*, noting that the officer's "conduct was consistent with [Professor] LaFave's suggestion that if the precise location of the wallet is unknown, 'only a frisk should be allowed as a means of discovering it." *Id.*, ¶18 (quoted source omitted). Ultimately, what tipped the scales in favor of upholding the search was

the fact that the officer might have compromised the ongoing investigation if he was unable to search for identification in that situation. *Id.*, ¶19.

Here, the identification search exception to the warrant requirement did not permit the deputy's warrantless search of Ms. Moss's wallet. This is not a factual scenario similar to that of *Flynn* or *Black*. Unlike those cases, the deputy in this case was not in the midst of an investigation when he asked Jasmine<sup>4</sup> for her name and identification; he had already arrested Jasmine for disorderly conduct. Thus, the public interest in quickly apprehending the suspect of a serious crime—the compelling reason supporting the searches in Flynn and Black—is simply not implicated in this case. And no other compelling reason for immediately identifying Jasmine comes to mind. Why was it necessary to obtain proof of the arrestee's identity prior to taking her to the police station, when she was already handcuffed and seated in a chair? Society's need for the particular search in this case was minimal.

By contrast, the privacy intrusion was significant. The scope of the deputy's search was broader than that of *Flynn* and *Black* in that the deputy did not confine his search to the suspect's person upon suspicion that the suspect was carrying identification. The evidence shows that the deputy had no idea whether Jasmine was carrying identification with her that evening. Instead of limiting the search to a frisk of Jasmine's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> At the circuit court, the state argued that the deputy's warrantless action was permitted as an identification search of both Jasmine and Ms. Moss. (10). The evidence is clear that the deputy never performed an investigative stop on Ms. Moss. He never asked her for her name or identification. Thus, to the extent the identification search exception is implicated by the facts of this case, the proper focus is on the deputy's actions with respect to Jasmine.

person—which is what Professor LaFave suggests where the precise location of the wallet is unknown—the deputy took the additional step of picking up a wallet on a nearby table and opening it. He did so despite the fact that he was in a bar with other people in the area. He also knew that Jasmine was, at a minimum, in the company of Ms. Moss that evening. Thus, unlike the situations in *Flynn* and *Black*, the intrusion in this case was not as limited as was reasonably possible to effectuate the purpose underlying it.

Society's need for the particular search in this case was minimal. On the other hand, the privacy intrusion was significant. Accordingly, the identification search exception to the warrant requirement did not permit the deputy's warrantless search of Ms. Moss's wallet.

#### ii. Search incident to arrest.

A search incident to a lawful arrest is another exception to the warrant requirement. *United States v. Robinson*, 414 U.S. 218, 224 (1973). The scope of a search incident to arrest is limited to the suspect's person and the area immediately surrounding the arrestee. *Arizona v. Gant*, 556 U.S. 332, 339 (2009). The "area immediately surrounding the arrestee" means "the area from within which [the suspect] might gain possession of a weapon or destructible evidence." *Id.* (citing *Chimel v. California*, 395 U.S. 752, 763 (1969)). "If there is no possibility that an arrestee could reach into the area that law enforcement officers seek to search, both justifications for the search-incident-to-arrest exception are absent and the rule does not apply." *Id.* 

Here, the search incident to arrest exception to the warrant requirement did not permit the warrantless search of Ms. Moss's wallet. The search was outside the area of the

arrestee's immediate control. The evidence shows that upon arresting Jasmine for disorderly conduct, the deputy placed her in handcuffs and sat her in a chair a couple feet from the table with the wallet. While Jasmine may have been within reaching distance of the wallet, it is clear from the record that she was secured. It was not reasonably possible for her to grab the wallet and open it while she was handcuffed. *Gant* instructs that under these circumstances the search incident to arrest rule does not apply.<sup>5</sup>

The circuit court might have found that the deputy arrested Ms. Moss prior to the warrantless search as well. But that finding is contrary to the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence. The evidence shows that the deputy neither performed an investigative stop nor arrested Ms. Moss for any purported offense prior to searching her wallet.

While a search may be incident to a subsequent arrest if the officer has probable cause to arrest before the search is conducted, *Rawlings v. Kentucky*, 448 U.S. 98, 111 (1980), the deputy did not have probable cause to arrest Ms. Moss for any offense prior to searching the wallet. Probable cause must exist independent of the fruits of the warrantless search in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> It is worth noting that *Gant's* instruction came in a vehicle case, where a defendant's expectation of privacy is reduced. *Arizona v. Gant*, 556 U.S. 332, 345 (2009). Still, the Court held that the search incident to arrest exception "authorizes police to search a vehicle . . . only when the arrestee is *unsecured and within reaching distance* of the passenger compartment at the time of the search." *Id.* at 343 (emphasis added). Certainly this instruction applies with equal force to the warrantless search of a wallet that is not found on the suspect's person, as a wallet commands a higher expectation of privacy. *See United States v. Fultz*, 146 F.3d 1102, 1105 (9th Cir. 1998).

Rawlings v. Kentucky, 448 U.S. 98, 111 (1980). Here, before searching the wallet, the facts that inform the probable cause calculus with respect to Ms. Moss are simple: (1) the deputy got a call about an alleged argument between two women at a bar; (2) the deputy arrived at the bar and did not see anyone arguing; (3) the deputy saw a woman acting loud and belligerent; and (4) the deputy saw Ms. Moss seated on a barstool, apparently intoxicated. These facts do not rise to the level of probable cause for disorderly conduct or any other crime.

Moreover, even if the deputy had probable cause to arrest Ms. Moss prior to the search, the search incident to arrest exception still would not apply. Like the situation with Jasmine, the search would have been outside the area of the arrestee's immediate control. The evidence shows that Ms. Moss was 10 to 15 feet from the wallet. She was therefore not within reaching distance of the wallet. Per *Gant*, the search incident to arrest rule is inapplicable under these circumstances.

In sum, the search incident to arrest exception, whether applied through the deputy's conduct toward Jasmine or Ms. Moss, did not permit the deputy's warrantless search. Since no valid exception to the warrant requirement applies to overcome the presumption of unreasonableness that attaches to a warrantless search, the search was constitutionally unreasonable.

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