# **RECEIVED**

04-03-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

## COURT OF APPEALS

### DISTRICT III

Case No. 2016AP1856 -CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JANAYA L. MOSS,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE WASHBURN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE EUGENE D. HARRINGTON, PRESIDING

### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

ANGELINE WINTON District Attorney State Bar #1060223

Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent

Washburn County District Attorney's Office 10 W. 4<sup>th</sup> Avenue P.O. Box 344
Shell Lake, Wisconsin 54871
(715) 468-4670
(715) 468-4674 (Fax)
Angeline.Winton@da.wi.gov

## **

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The Trial Court Properly Found That Deputy Jordan Price Had Authority To Search Janaya Moss's Unattended Wallet Because The Search Was A Valid Identification Search, A Valid Search Incident To Arrest, And A Valid Inventory Search.

#### A. Standard Of Review.

When the trial court denies a defendant's motion to suppress, the reviewing court must uphold the trial court's findings unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Sykes*, 2005 WI 48, ¶ 12, 279 Wis. 2d 742, 750-751, 695 N.W.2d 277, 282. The trial court's conclusions of law, however, are reviewed de novo. *Id*.

B. Jayana Moss Lacks Standing To Object To The Validity Of The Search Of The Wallet She Left Unattended, 10 To 15 Feet Across The Room.

To raise a Fourth Amendment issue, an individual must show a governmental intrusion and that the individual has standing. *State v. Bruski*, 2007 WI 25, ¶¶21-22, 299 Wis. 2d 177, 186-187, 727 N.W.2d 503, 508.

Standing, in turn, exists if that person has a "reasonable expectation of privacy." State v. *Bruski*, 2007 WI 25, ¶22. Whether an individual has a reasonable expectation of privacy depends on

First, whether the individual's conduct exhibited an actual (i.e., subjective) expectation of privacy in the area searched and the item seized... [and] if the individual has the reasonable expectation of privacy, courts determine whether such an expectation of privacy was legitimate or

justifiable (i.e., one that society is willing to recognize as reasonable).

*State. v. Bruski*, 2007 WI 25, ¶ 23.

Here, although Ms. Moss now claims she had an expectation of privacy in the wallet she discarded on a table 10-15 feet away from her in a bar, her expectation is unreasonable. There is no indication from the record that she had any identifying information on the outside of the wallet.

Perhaps more importantly, she did nothing to proclaim the wallet was hers nor took any overt action to safeguard her property when she observed the law enforcement standing near the wallet. Instead, she continued standing next to a man, holding her up so she wouldn't fall, halfway across the bar (R23:4-5).

This case is similar to that of *State v. Earl*, in which the Wisconsin Court of Appeals determined that no reasonable expectation of privacy existed in a package whose sender's information is unknown and which is addressed to a fictitious recipient. *State v. Earl*, 2009 WI App 99, ¶17, 320 Wis. 2d 639, 650, 770 N.W. 755, 761.

As in the present case, in *State v. Earl*, the Court of Appeals ultimately determined that even if the true owner of an item, such as an unmarked package, has a subjective expectation of privacy, that expectation is not one that society accepts as reasonable. *State v. Earl*, 2009 WI App 99, ¶18.

As in *Earl*, here, although Ms. Moss may, subjectively, have expected privacy in the unmarked wallet she took no action to protect despite the gathering of law enforcement, her expectation is not one which is objectively reasonable.

The testimony elicited at the suppression hearing from Deputy Jordan Price was that the wallet was lying in a room, 10-15 feet away from Ms. Moss. (R23:5). Ms. Moss's co-defendant, Ms. Moody, was the closest to the

wallet, which lay directly in front of the table she was standing two feet from. (R23:5).

Rather than protecting the contents of her wallet, Ms. Moss continued to stand across the room while officers arrested Ms. Moody then ultimately looked in the wallet, for clues as to the identify of Ms. Moody. (R23:5).

It is reasonable to surmise, like in *Earl*, the ownership of the wallet could only be discovered by looking inside.

Although Ms. Moss may subjectively have expected the contents of her wallet to remain private, when she abandoned it 10-15 feet across the room next to her inebriated co-defendant, her expectation is simply unreasonable.

# C. Deputy Price Was Legally Justified When He Looked Inside Ms. Moss's Wallet.

# i. Deputy Price's Search Of The Wallet Was A Valid Identification Search.

While investigating a crime, an officer may briefly detain an individual and request that person provide identification if the officer reasonably suspects that person is involved in a crime. *State v. Black*, 2000 WI App 175, ¶10, 238 Wis. 2d 203, 209, 617 N.W.2d 210, 212.

As the Court of Appeals noted "unless the officer is entitled to at least ascertain the identity of the suspect, the right to stop him can serve no useful purpose at all." *State v. Black*, 2000 WI App 175, ¶14. (quoting State v. Flynn, 92 Wis. 2d 427, 442, 285 N.W.2d 710 (1979)).

Indeed, long ago in *Flynn*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court upheld a search where the officer removed the defendant's wallet from his pocket and opened it, indicating, "the Fourth Amendment does not require a policemen who lacks the precise level of information necessary for probable cause to arrest to simply shrug his shoulders and allow a crime to occur or a criminal to

escape". *State v. Flynn*, 92 Wis. 2d 427, 433, 285 N.W.2d 710, 712 (1979).

While the right to conduct an identification search is not without limits, in *Flynn* the search was upheld because the Court noted the officers weren't "fishing for whatever evidence they could find, but sought merely to learn the defendant's identify." *State v. Black*, 2000 WI App 175 at ¶15. Indeed, the Wisconsin Supreme Court made special note of the fact that the intrusion upon the defendant's privacy was as limited as possible to effectuate the identification and search for weapons and that the defendant could have avoided the intrusion in the first place by simply identifying himself. *State v. Flynn*, 92 Wis. 2d 427, 448.

Ultimately, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals concluded that when officers are justified in stopping a person and requesting their identification, and when that person refuses to provide that identification, the officer may "remove his or her wallet to obtain identification." *State v. Black*, 2000 WI App 175, ¶15.

In the present, case, Deputy Price was justified in opening the wallet as a proper identification search because he was actively investigating the complaint that Ms. Moss and Ms. Moody had been disorderly and were refusing to pay their dancers' fees.

While investigating whether Ms. Moss and Ms. Moody had been disorderly, pursuant to *Flynn* and *Black*, Deputy Price was entitled to ask Ms. Moody for her identification. When Ms. Moody refused to indicate anything more than "Jasmine" and the bartender couldn't provide any more complete information, Deputy Price properly looked inside the wallet lying two feet in front of "Jasmine" to see if there was identifying information inside.

The search should also be upheld as a valid identification search because the scope of the search was limited pursuant to *Flynn* and Deputy Price didn't engage in a "fishing expedition." Deputy Price was merely

looking for a photo identification when the cocaine fell out of Ms. Moss's wallet.

As Deputy Price was entitled to search for identification in the vicinity of Ms. Moody, including inside the wallet which he reasonably assumed belonged to Ms. Moody, who was refusing to provide her full name, the search was a proper identification search and the evidence should not be suppressed.

## ii. The Search Was Also Permissible As A Valid Search Incident To Arrest Of Both Ms. Moss And Ms. Moody.

In *State v. Sykes*, which arose under similar facts to those in the present case, where officers arrested the defendant for possession of cocaine immediately after a search of his wallet, although officers originally had probable cause for criminal trespass, the Wisconsin Supreme Court determined that the search incident to arrest was valid. *State v. Sykes*, 2005 WI 48, ¶22, 279 Wis. 2d 742, 756, N.W.2d 277, 284. As the Court explained, a "search may immediately precede a formal arrest so long as the fruits of the search are not necessary to support the arrest." *State v. Sykes*, 2005 WI 48, ¶16.

Of course, the scope of such a search is limited to the defendant's "wing-span" or "area from within which [the suspect] might gain possession of a weapon or destructible evidence." *State v. Sykes*, 2006 WI 48, ¶ 20 (quoting *Chimel v. California*, 395 U.S. 752, 763, 89 S. Ct. 2034 (1969).

Here, the trial court's denial of the defendant's suppression motion should be upheld because Deputy Price had proper justification to search the wallet as a valid search incident to the arrest of Ms. Moody. Just prior to the search of Ms. Moss's wallet, Ms. Moody was placed under arrest for her continuing unruly, disorderly behavior. While the officers were present, Ms. Moss exhibited no ownership, possession or control over the wallet and therefore, the officer's reasonably assumed it belonged to Ms. Moody. The search of the wallet,

therefore, occurred as a proper search incident to Ms. Moody's arrest as it was clearly within her wingspan and could have contained small weapons.

In addition, examination of the wallet was also a proper search incident to the arrest of Ms. Moss for disorderly conduct. Although Ms. Moody's behavior drew the deputies' attention first, it should not be forgotten that the officers were also investigating Ms. Moss for her involvement in the argument with Ms. Moody.

Although Ms. Moss was ultimately charged only with Possession of Cocaine and Possession of Tetrahydrocannabinols, pursuant to *Sykes* the search of the wallet was also proper because at the time, Deputy Price had sufficient probable cause to arrest both Ms. Moss and Ms. Moody for their unruly behavior at Looker's Bar that evening. Had the wallet not been examined moments earlier as a valid identification search of Ms. Moody, undoubtedly the wallet would have been searched moments later as a valid search incident to Ms. Moss's arrest.

iii. Even If The Court Determines The Search Was Not Either A Valid Identification Search Or Search Incident Arrest, The Evidence Should Not Be Suppressed Because It Would Have Inevitably Been Discovered As A Part Of An Inventory Search When Ms. Moody And Ms. Moss Were Taken To The Jail After Being Arrested For Disorderly Conduct.

Both the United States Supreme Court and the Wisconsin Supreme Court have long recognized the inevitable discovery exception to the exclusionary rule whereby "evidence obtained during a search which is tainted by some illegal act may be admissible if the tainted evidence would have inevitably been discovered by lawful means." *State v. Jackson*, 2016 WI 56, ¶47, 369 Wis. 2d 673, 697-698, 882 N.W.2d 422, 434.

To fall within the exception, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals has applied the following three-pronged analysis:

To establish that the evidence would have been inevitably discovered, the State must demonstrate, by a preponderance of the evidence, that: (1) there is a reasonable probability that the evidence in question would have been discovered by lawful means but for the police misconduct; (2) the leads making the discovery inevitable were possessed by the government at the time of the misconduct; and (3) prior to the unlawful search the government also was actively pursuing some alternative line of investigation.

State v. Jackson, 2016 WI 56, ¶42.

Indeed, the inevitable discovery exception frequently occurs when the evidence would have been discovered during a subsequent inventory search. *State v. Jackson*, 2016 WI 56, ¶58.

Finally, it is well recognized that "[e]ven if the police were not actively pursuing an alternative line of investigation at the time of police error or misconduct, for example, the government may well be able to establish that the execution of routine police procedure or practice inevitably would have resulted in discovery of disputed evidence." *State v. Jackson*, 2016 WI 56, ¶62 ((quoting *United States v. Thomas*, 524 F.3d 855, (8th Cir. 2008)).

As noted by the Wisconsin Supreme Court in *State v. Weide*, inventory searches "serve three vital functions: protecting the owner's property while it is in police custody; protecting the police department from claims that the property was lost or stolen while it was in police custody; and protecting the police from harm." *State v. Weide*, 155 Wis. 2d 537, 542-543, 455 N.W. 2d 899, 902 (1990).

In addition, it is not necessary that the defendant's vehicle be impounded or the defendant be in custody for valid inventory searches of closed containers. *State v. Weide*, 155 Wis. 2d. 537, 547-548.

In the present case, the trial court properly refused to suppress the evidence. Here, the search of the wallet proper as a valid identification search, and a proper search incident to the arrest of both Ms. Moody and Ms. Moss. Ultimately, however, had the wallet not been searched at Looker's Bar, inevitably the contents of the wallet would have been discovered anyway as part of the booking process at the Washburn County Jail when both Ms. Moss and Ms. Moody were arrested.

#### **CONCLUSION**

As Ms. Moss lacks standing to object to the search of her wallet and examination of the contents of the wallet was proper based upon the three equally proper grounds stated herein, the respondent respectfully requests that this court affirm the trial court's denial of the defendant's suppression motion in this matter.